1948

# James C. Knight and Beatrice M. Knight v. Utah Power & Light Company and Ogden River Water Users Association : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The parties to this appeal will hereafter be designated as they were in the Court below, where respondents were the plaintiffs and appellants were defendants.

Plaintiffs, who are husband and wife, brought this action against the defendants to recover One Thousand Eight Hundred Twenty Five (\$1,825.00) Dollars damages claimed to have been sustained by them by reason of the flooding of their premises, which flooding allegedly resulted from defendants' negligence. The case was tried before the Court and jury on November 20th, 21st, 25th and 26th, 1947, in the District Court for Weber

County, the Honorable Charles G. Cowley presiding. At the opening of the trial, counsel for plaintiffs made an opening statement of plaintiffs' case (Tr. 3-4), following which defendants separately moved for judgment of non-suit (Tr. 5), which motions the court denied (Tr. 5). Upon the conclusion of plaintiffs' case in chief, defendants separately moved for judgement of non-suit (Tr. 132-134), which motions the court denied (Tr. 134). After both sides had rested the defendants separately moved for a directed verdict "No cause for action", (Tr. 257-259), which motions the court denied (Tr. 260). Thereupon the cause was submitted to the court under instructions by the court, and the jury in due course returned its verdict in favor of the plaintiffs and against the defendants for the amount of One Thousand Two Hundred Fifty Eight and 75/100 (\$1,258.75) Dollars (Tr. 289). The verdict was by six of the eight jurors, two jurors dissenting therefrom (Tr. 289). Thereafter, and within the time allowed by law, the defendants each moved the court for a new trial, which motion was on December 8, 1947, denied. The defendants thereupon filed on February 19, 1948, their notice of appeal from the judgement entered on the verdict, and from the order denying their motions for new trial. The statutory undertaking on appeal was waived by plaintiffs.

Hereafter, where it becomes necessary to refer to a defendant separately, defendant Utah Power and Light Company will, for convenience, be referred to as the Power Company, and defendant Ogden River Water Users Association, as the Water Users.

## THE PLEADINGS

Plaintiffs' action was based on the following complaint, as amended (omitting title, signatures and verification);

“Come now the plaintiffs and complain of the defendants and for cause of action allege:

“1. The defendant Utah Power & Light Company is and at all times herein mentioned was a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Maine and duly licensed to do business within the State of Utah. The defendant Ogden River Water Users Association is and at all times herein mentioned was a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Utah.

“2. At all times herein mentioned the plaintiffs were the owners of the following described real property situated in Weber County, State of Utah:

‘All of Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, & 5, Block 12, The Hermitage of Ogden Canyon, situate in the Northeast quarter of the Southeast quarter of Section 18, Township 6 North, Range 1 East Salt Lake Base and Meridian, U.S. Survey.’

The said real property was at all times herein mentioned improved with a frame dwelling with six rooms and a bath having hardwood floors and knotty pine finish, together with a cesspool sewer system constructed in said lands for the use of the said house. The said dwelling house was completely furnished, at all times herein mentioned with customary household furnishings, furniture and fixtures including a console radio and at the time of the flooding of the said premises as here-

inafter alleged the plaintiffs owned and had stored therein large quantities of clothing, luggage and other personal property.

“3. At the time of the flooding of the said premises the said household furniture, furnishings and equipment aforesaid, which were all property of the plaintiffs, were of the reasonable value of One Thousand (\$1,000.00) Dollars and upwards. The said dwelling house was of the reasonable value of Five Thousand (\$5,000.00) Dollars and upwards, and the clothing, luggage and household supplies aforesaid were of the value of One Thousand (\$1,000.00 Dollars and upwards.

“4. At all times herein mentioned a large wooden water pipe or flume was laid on the North side of Ogden Canyon in said Weber County on a point near the head of said Ogden Canyon past the premises of the plaintiffs aforesaid through the mouth of Ogden Canyon. The said pipe or flume was then and there owned, controlled and maintained by the defendants jointly and the said defendants were at all times herein mentioned under contractual obligations with each other and with the United States of America to be jointly responsible for the care and maintenance of said pipe. The said pipe was originally constructed and laid by the defendants and the United States Government as a joint enterprise for the use and benefit of the defendants.

“5. The defendants at all times herein mentioned used the said water pipe to conduct water under great pressure and at great velocity for the purposes of the defendants from the head of Ogden Canyon to the mouth thereof. In the construction and in the maintenance of the said water



pipe and in the use thereof in violation of the duty which the defendants and each of them owed to all property owners in said Ogden Canyon and particularly to the plaintiffs, the defendants carelessly and negligently constructed and maintained the said pipe by carelessly and negligently failing to protect the same from large stones and boulders which during the spring of each year roll down the steep mountainsides of said Ogden Canyon and across the place where the said pipe was and is constructed and maintained, but on the contrary the said defendants carelessly and negligently left the said pipe lying unprotected upon the surface of the ground in the places where the said boulders roll down said mountainsides, and carelessly and negligently caused large quantities of water under pressure into and through said pipe so left unprotected. The defendants and each of them well knew, or by the exercise of reasonable care could have known that in the spring of every year rocks being loosened on the melting of the frost roll down the sides of said mountains and across the place where the parties laid and maintained said pipe without protecting the same from said rocks and boulders.

“6. On or about the 28th day of February, 1946, during a spring thaw large rocks and boulders became loosened from the mountainside of said Ogden Canyon and rolled down said mountainside with great force and violence and rolled into and upon the said waterpipe so left negligently exposed by the defendants and crushed and broke the said waterpipe so that very large quantities of water were released therefrom under great force and at high velocity and flowed from said pipe across the ground and upon and across the premises of the plaintiffs through the house with

which said premises were and are improved completely soaking and saturating the said frame building and all of its contents and leaving heavy deposits of mud and silt therein and filling up the cesspool of the parties, completely destroying luggage of the parties of the value of One Hundred (\$100.00) Dollars, completely destroying a French bouvai rug of the value of One Hundred (\$100.00) Dollars, completely destroying clothing of the parties of the value of Three Hundred Seventy Five (\$375.00) Dollars and household linens of the parties of the value of Fifty (\$50.00) Dollars, and groceries of the value of Ten (\$10.00) Dollars. Plaintiffs were further compelled to expend and they did expend the sum of Three Hundred (\$300.00) Dollars for removing the said mud and silt from their said dwelling house and cleaning the same and cleaning and polishing the said furniture and cleaning drift and debris from the yard deposited therein by said waters and cleaning the garage of the parties situated on said premises and redigging and repairing the said cesspool and repairing doors and furniture damaged by water and cleaning and repairing the said fireplace in the said dwelling. The parties were further compelled to expend and did expend the sum of Two Hundred Twenty Five (\$225.00) Dollars in and about the repair and replacement of hardwood flooring ruined and damaged by said waters and mud and silt and the further sum of Fifty (\$50.00) Dollars in and about the cleaning and repair of clothing of the parties which they were able to salvage from the flood caused by the negligence of the defendants as aforesaid. The said premises and the dwelling house thereon have further been damaged beyond repair in the sum of Five Hundred (\$500.00)

Dollars, and the furniture of the plaintiffs has been damaged beyond repair in the sum of One Hundred Twenty Five (\$125.00) Dollars all to the damage of the plaintiffs in the sum of One Thousand Eight Hundred and Twenty Five (\$1,825.00) Dollars.

“WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray judgment against the defendants and each of them in the sum of One Thousand Eight Hundred Twenty Five (\$1,825.00) Dollars, for cost of suit and for such other and further relief as to the court may seem meet.”

Defendant Power Company demurred generally and specially to such complaint as follows (omitting title and signatures):

“Comes now the defendant, Utah Power & Light Company, and demurs to the complaint of the plaintiffs on file herein and for cause thereof alleges:

“(1) That said complaint does not state facts sufficient to constitute the cause of action attempted to be pleaded in said complaint, or any cause of action against this demurring defendant.

“(2) (a) That said complaint and particularly paragraph 2 thereof is uncertain in this, that it cannot be ascertained therefrom whether the improvements upon the said real property claimed to be owned by the plaintiffs were constructed to or subsequent to the construction of the water pipe referred to in paragraph 4 of said complaint.

“(b) That said paragraph of said complaint is ambiguous for the foregoing reasons.

“(c) That said paragraph of said complaint is unintelligible for the foregoing reasons.

“(3) That said complaint and particularly paragraph 4 thereof is

“(a) uncertain in this, that it cannot be ascertained therefrom whether the said pipe referred to therein was constructed prior or subsequent to the improvements upon the land claimed to be owned by the plaintiffs, as set out in paragraph 2 of said complaint, nor can it be ascertained therefrom by whom said pipe was constructed, whether by this demurring defendant or by the United States of America or by whom, nor can it be ascertained therefrom what contractual obligations it is claimed there were between the parties mentioned in said paragraph of said complaint, nor can it be ascertained therefrom when it is claimed that the said pipe was owned, controlled or maintained by the said defendants jointly, nor can it be ascertained therefrom why it is claimed that this demurring defendant was jointly responsible with the other persons named in said paragraph or any of them, for the care and maintenance of said pipe.

“(b) That said paragraph of said complaint is ambiguous for the foregoing reasons.

“(c) That said paragraph of said complaint is unintelligible for the foregoing reasons.

“(4) That paragraph 5 of said complaint is uncertain in this

“(a) That it cannot be ascertained therefrom whether the plaintiffs claim that this demurring defendant was negligent in the construction of said pipe or whether it is claimed

by said complaint that this demurring defendant was negligent in the maintenance thereof, nor can it be ascertained therefrom why such construction or maintenance was in violation of any duty to the plaintiffs, nor can it be ascertained therefrom why this demurring defendant was negligent in failing to protect said pipe from stones or boulders rolling down the mountain side, as set out in said complaint, nor can it be ascertained therefrom how or why it is claimed that this demurring defendant was guilty of any carelessness or negligence in leaving said pipe unprotected upon the surface of the ground, nor can it be ascertained therefrom why it is claimed this demurring defendant could have known that in the spring of every year, or at any time, rocks would be loosened by the melting of frost or otherwise and roll down the side of the mountain and across the place where said pipe line was maintained, nor why or for what reason this demurring defendant was under any duty to protect the said pipeline from any rocks or boulders.

“(b) That said paragraph of said complaint is ambiguous for the foregoing reasons.

“(c) That said paragraph of said complaint is unintelligible for the foregoing reasons.

“(5) That said complaint and particularly paragraph 6 thereof is uncertain in this:

“(a) That it cannot be ascertained therefrom how or why it is claimed that there was any negligence upon the part of this demurring defendant in leaving said pipeline exposed, as therein set out, nor can it be ascertained therefrom whether it is claimed by the plaintiffs that said pipeline was constructed prior or subsequent to the said



improvements upon said property claimed to be owned by the plaintiffs, or whether said personal property therein described was placed therein prior or subsequent to the construction of said pipeline, nor can it be ascertained therefrom when it is claimed that said pipeline was constructed.”

A similar demurrer was filed by defendant Water Users.

The demurrers were overruled, whereupon defendants separately answered, putting in issue the question of its negligence and plaintiffs’ damage, and further affirmatively pleaded that the pipeline which became broken, allowing water to flow on to plaintiffs’ premises, was constructed by the United States in the years 1935 and 1936 under contract with Barnard Curtis Company, and under plans and specifications prepared by the United States and in accordance with best approved engineering practices, and along the only practical and feasible route therefor, and that the pipe line at all times remained and was maintained in the same condition as originally constructed and installed; further that plaintiffs’ acquired the premises that were damaged subsequent to the building of the pipeline and subsequent to April 5, 1944, well knowing of the existence and location of the pipeline and the manner in which it was installed; further, that the proximate cause of plaintiffs’ damage, if any, was not any act of omission or commission of the defendants, but was the act of the State Highway Commission in banking snow on either side of the highway and thus channelling water flowing from the break down the highway onto plaintiffs’ premises, instead of

flowing into the river as it otherwise naturally would have done; further, that plaintiffs' action was barred by the provisions of section 104-2-30, Utah Code Annotated, 1943.

## THE FACTS

On May 28, 1935, the United States entered into a contract with Barnard-Curtiss Company under which the latter was to construct a conduit, or wood stave pipeline from Pineview Dam in upper Ogden Canyon down the canyon to the mouth thereof. The pipeline was 75 inches in diameter and was for the purpose of conveying water from the dam for electric power developments and for irrigation of extensive acreages in Weber and Box Elder counties. It runs in a generally easterly and westerly direction. The line was constructed during the years 1935 and 1936, in accordance with plans and specifications prepared by the United States, and along the route selected by it. (Exhibit 6 and 7, Tr. 140, 141.) Subsequent to the building of the pipeline, plaintiffs acquired a home in the canyon some distance below the Dam, and fronting on the canyon highway. (Tr. 119). On the evening of February 28, 1946, a break occurred in the pipeline about three-fourths mile easterly (towards the dam) of plaintiffs' home; the water flowed from the break onto the highway, and then down the highway until it reached plaintiffs' premises, where it flowed upon the premises and into the home. Prior to this snow fall in the canyon had been quite heavy, and in plowing the snow therefrom the State Highway Commission had banked it along each side of the highway and had it not been for the snow so banked along either side of the highway the

water would not have flown down the highway to plaintiffs' premises, but would have left the highway and flown into Ogden River long before it reached plaintiffs' premises. (Tr. 193-198; 205; 232. At the point where the break in the pipeline occurred, the pipeline is located about 50 feet north of the highway, and at an elevation above the highway. In installing the pipeline at this point a cut was made in the side of the canyon and the pipe laid at the base of the cut (Tr. 212). The cut is about 25 feet deep, and the face of the cut rises directly above the north side of the pipe about 25 feet (Tr. 212). Above the cut to the north the canyon opens out into a gradual slope until it reaches precipitous cliffs some half mile farther north (Tr. 186-188). On the evening of February 28, 1946, a large mass of rock became dislodged from these cliffs some half mile to the north of the canyon, and a large boulder came down the slope in great leaps and bounds toward the pipeline. As it approached the pipeline it struck the ground about 68 paces to the north of the cut, at the base of which lay the pipeline, and then apparently leaped high in the air and descended at a point where it just cleared the brow of the cut and struck the pipeline, tearing a hole in it, from which flowed the water which reached plaintiffs' premises. (Tr. 180). Immediately following the accident a large rock, weighing some 91½ tons, was found lying in the highway directly below the break in the pipeline. (Tr. 230, 241).

Following the construction of the pipeline by the United States, the responsibility for its maintenance had been turned over to the defendants.



Plaintiffs' cause of action, as we understand it, is predicated upon the theory that defendants were negligent in the construction of the pipeline, and in its maintenance, in that they should have foreseen this danger to the line and have taken precautions in addition to what they did, to guard against it. The court by its Instruction No. 7, (Tr. 276) itself determined that there was no evidence in the case of negligence in the matter of maintenance, and purported to submit the case to the jury solely upon the theory of negligence in its construction.

The evidence in further detail will be considered in connection with Points I and II of the Argument.

## STATEMENT OF ERRORS UPON WHICH APPELLANTS RELY

1. The lower court erred in overruling defendants' demurrers.

2. The lower court erred in denying defendants' motions for non-suit following plaintiffs' opening statement.

3. The lower court erred in denying defendants' motions for non-suit following completion of plaintiffs' case in chief.

4. The lower court erred in denying defendants' motions for directed verdict.

5. The lower court erred in refusing to give defendants' Requested Instruction No. 1 (Tr. 265).

6. The lower court erred in refusing to give defendants' Requested Instruction No. 9. (Tr. 268).

7. The lower court erred in refusing to give defendants' Requested Instruction No. 14 (Tr. 269).

8. The lower court erred in giving Instruction No. 1 (Tr. 273-274).

9. The lower court erred in giving that portion of Instruction No. 1 reading as follows:

“The defendants and each of them well knew, or by the exercise of reasonable care should have known that in the spring of every year rocks being loosened on the melting of the frost roll down the sides of said mountains and across the place where the defendants laid and maintained said pipe without protecting the same from said rocks and boulders,” (Tr. 284-285).

10. The lower court erred in giving that portion of Instruction No. 1 reading as follows:

“The defendants by their answers deny that they were negligent in the construction and maintenance of said pipeline, and deny that there was any negligence on their part directly or proximately causing any damages which the plaintiffs may have suffered, and defendants pray that said complaint be dismissed,” (Tr. 285).

11. The lower court erred in giving Instruction No. 5. (Tr. 275).

12. The lower court erred in giving that portion of Instruction No. 5 reading as follows:

“It is the efficient cause,—the one that necessarily sets in operation the factors that accomplish the injury,” (Tr. 285).

13. The lower court erred in giving Instruction No. 9. (Tr. 276-277).

14. The lower court erred in giving that portion of Instruction 9 reading as follows

“Water collected by gravitation manifests a power familiar to all, capable of accomplishing useful and beneficial purposes, or destructive and disastrous consequences and results,” (Tr. 285).

15. The lower court erred in giving that portion of Instruction 9 reading as follows:

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