1948

James C. Knight and Beatrice M. Knight v. Utah Power & Light Company and Ogden River Water Users Association : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

Actually the Utah rule that a city is liable for failure to exercise due care in selecting an employee to draft plans for a public improvement is a departure from the general rule that the adoption of plans is a governmental function in the performance of which the city has the sovereign's immunity from tort liability. See

38 Am. Jur. 328 and 336, "Municipal Corporations" § § 628 and 634.

It can have no application to the negligence of private corporations for profit.

Defendants argue, however, that in fact the sovereign United States of America planned and built the pipe in this case and, as the rule would apply to the United States, that defendants can be liable only if the United States would be liable, as (it is claimed) they came into the picture "*only after the project was completed.*" (Italics ours). Perhaps the most obvious thing wrong with this argument is that the facts are not as stated by defendants. The government constructed

the pipeline pursuant to and in accordance with a pre-existing contract with the defendants specifying that the line should be buried only in the same manner as the Power Company's previous line (which had been broken by rocks) and under which the *plans were subject to the approval of the Power Company*. See our statement of facts, page 1, *supra*. Thus defendants' contract, for which they were responsible, required the government to construct the pipe in a way that defendants knew was dangerous. It is true that a government engineer drew the plans which were incorporated in the contract, but this would not relieve the defendant corporations of their duty to use due care in approving the plans. The government certainly would not have proceeded without the approval and cooperation of the defendants and their execution of the contract. The defendants had practical control, and as private corporation sthey are responsible for their negligent exercise thereof.

Moreover, it is apparent that the engineer working on the plans was not left free to plan a safe conduit according to his knowledge and experience, but was compelled to compromise safety factors with financial factors in order to gain the cooperation of defendants in the project. (T. 147-148.) It was decided that, in the interest of economy for defendants, the plaintiffs should be exposed to a risk of a flood let loose by rolling stones which should have been anticipated. Surely under these circumstances defendants should not be permitted to hide behind the skirts of the sovereign! If, to save themselves money, they knowingly exposed plaintiffs to danger of injury, they are responsible for that injury. They took the risk for plaintiffs, and now should take the consequences.

Moreover, defendants' argument overlooks the fact that when the pipe was turned over to them the defect and danger was apparent, and it was negligent of them to fill the pipe with water without first correcting the dangerous defect. Even if it were conceded, for the argument's sake, that they were not responsible for the manner in which the pipe was constructed, still, having knowledge of that danger (which the engineer perhaps did not) they coursed a tremendous stream of water through the pipe without first taking precautions to see that it would not escape through the intervention of natural forces, and it was proper to submit the case to the jury. This is the rule even with respect to sovereign municipalities. "As soon as the fault or injurious consequences are known, or ought to be known to the municipality, *it is duty bound to remedy the defect, if this can be done, or, if not, to cease the operation of the public agency until the defect is remedied*; the penalty of refusal after reasonable notice will be liability in damages for the injuries caused by the defect." (Italics added.)

38 Am. Jur. 329, "Municipal Corporations,"
§ 628, nt. 8.

See also

Morris v. Salt Lake City
35 Utah 474, 101 Pac. 373, syllabus 9.

It was there held that the city was liable for failure to remove trees left standing after their roots were cut by an independent sidewalk contractor, even if the cutting was a necessary incident to a proper plan for the sidewalk, where the city had knowledge of the danger created by the contractor's act and failed to correct it

before the wind (a natural force, as here) blew the trees over. We think this case is exactly in point on the question of defendants' operational negligence. The evidence is that this pipe was broken once before, and still defendants took no steps to remedy the patent defect.

Defendants further argue that plaintiffs assumed the risk of injury by building or buying a home under the pipeline after the pipe was constructed. This is of course tantamount to an assertion that by negligently building their pipe the defendants acquired the right to forbid or prevent the normal and usual use of all land below the pipeline. That of course is not the law. If defendants wanted to take the land for use as a reservoir for flood waters released by their pipe when it should break, they should have condemned it and paid its fair value. The land was there for some hundreds of centuries before the pipe was built, nor did defendants show that it was not in private ownership, with the incidental right to normal use, before any pipe was laid in Ogden Canyon. Defendants could not take away this right either directly or indirectly without compensation.

The doctrine of assumed risk is applicable only where the injured person might reasonably elect whether to expose himself to the danger, and if he could not reasonably escape he assumes no risk.

38 Am. Jur. 848, "Negligence," § 173.

Here the property owner could not pick up his land with the building on it and move it to a safer place. Building plots are not ambulatory. He could only avoid risk of injury by abandoning his property—which would itself be an injury suffered if the abandonment were forced by defendants' negligence. Plaintiffs were not reasonably

free to elect whether or not to expose themselves to the risk, especially in view of the well known housing shortage.

Nor is a property owner bound to forego the improvement of his land because the preexisting negligence of another makes it probable that the land and improvements will be flooded and damaged.

North Bend Lumber Company v. Seattle (Wash.)
199 Pac. 988, 19 A.L.R. 415, 419;

Annotation: 19 A.L.R. 423.

Defendants urge also that they used reasonable care under the circumstances, and the fact that they did not use greater care will not render them liable. The question was submitted to the jury under proper instructions to determine whether defendants exercised the care a reasonably prudent man would have exercised under the circumstances. The jury, by its verdict, has found that defendants did not act with ordinary caution. The evidence described in considerable detail the history of the breakage of exposed water pipes in Ogden Canyon, and the experience of Ogden City before and after it buried its parallel pipe. It was for the jury to say whether defendants used reasonable care under the circumstances.

Defendants also seem to intimate that the rock here was so large that no precaution could have avoided the break—that the rock was, in effect, a *vis major*. But we have already pointed out that there was evidence that the damage in fact came from two very ordinary rocks. The court instructed the jury that defendants were not required to prepare to meet unlooked for and over-

whelming displays of adverse power of such nature as to surprise cautious and reasonable men. (R. 062) Apparently the jury was of the opinion either that the smaller rocks did the damage, or that reasonable men would not have been surprised or overwhelmed by the large one, and that reasonable protection of the pipe would have averted the break. In any event, it was a question for the jury. We have already referred to the principle that negligence concurring with an act of God to produce injury is actionable.

We submit the court did not err in denying defendants' motion for a directed verdict and refusing their requested instruction number one.

3. *The lower court did not err in refusing defendants' requested instructions Nos. 9 and 14.*

(a) Defendants' request No. 9 which would have charged that defendants were not required to anticipate that a rock would be broken from a certain cliff "and therefore plaintiffs would not be entitled to recover" is clearly improper, and was properly refused. Whether an ordinary prudent man would foresee the severance of the rock would in any event be for the jury. Moreover, the question of the breaking of the rock from any particular cliff is utterly irrelevant. The question really involved was whether a reasonably prudent man would have foreseen the danger from rolling or bounding rocks from whatever source on the hillside above. In view of previous experience in evidence it seems clear that such a man would have anticipated that rocks would roll over and into an exposed pipe. Such rocks were common experience. To say that a man is not negligent because he could not in advance place his finger upon the

particular rock destined to break the pipe is obviously wrong. The foreseeability of the terminus, not the source of rolling rocks on this mountainside, was the point in issue. Moreover, the distance to the cliff is immaterial, so long as the slope from the cliff to the pipe is uninterrupted, as it is. Defendants are not entitled to assume that a rock, once started rolling, would just become tired and stop after so many hundred feet. Moving rocks rarely stop on a slope.

(b) Defendants' Requested instruction No. 14 deals with proximate cause. It would have instructed in effect, that if the flood waters released from defendants' pipe would have missed plaintiffs' home "but for" the plowing of the snow from the state highway so as to make a channel of the road, plaintiffs can't recover. In their argument on this point defendants say, "Under *normal* conditions it [the water] would have flowed from the highway and into the river long before it reached plaintiffs' property." (Italics added.) That statement is *entirely* without support in the evidence. On the contrary, all the evidence was that the situation at the time of the accident was entirely normal. The evidence without any conflict was that the winter snows were *always* plowed out of the road in the same manner. This was well known. As defendants' superintendent in charge of the pipeline testified, that was done every year, and was a condition known to everyone; it exists on all canyon roads. (T. 245-246.) That this is normal is further shown by defendants' own photographic exhibits, *taken the following February*, and showing a similar, but even more extreme, channel. In other words, this channel, which defendants would have the court regard as an

intervening cause, was part of the normal topography of the area every year during the season of rolling rocks. Defendants were not entitled to assume that it would be otherwise, or that it would not carry escaping waters down the roadway from a break at this or any other point above the road.

Defendants' argument is thus seen to rest upon a false assumption of fact: namely, that the "normal" condition of the road was freedom from snow which had been plowed into banks. Quite the contrary was true under *all* the evidence, and the argument falls with the false assumption on which it was based. There was nothing in the evidence on which to base the giving of the requested instruction, and it was properly refused.

Moreover, the intervention of independent intervening causes will not break the casual connection if the intervention of such forces was itself probable or foreseeable.

38 Am. Jur. 727, "Negligence"
§70, nt. 4

Here the practice of plowing of the road and its probably result were well known to defendants. The defendant Power Company's pipe had previously broken and the water had flowed down the road for 1,000 feet. (T. 38-39.) And even if the plowed-out road had been an abnormal rather than a normal winter and early spring condition, still the requested instruction would have been improper because it ignores the question as to whether such condition was foreseeable. It states without qualification that if the water was channelled to plaintiffs' property by the plowed road, the verdict must be for defendants. That is not the law, as we have pointed

out. Hence the request, as framed, was properly refused even if there had been (as there was not) evidence on which a proper instruction on this detail of probable cause might have been based.

In effect the annual plowing of the road was not an intervening cause, but a pre-existing topographical condition, of which defendants had knowledge, and which merely set the stage for defendants' negligence, as did the steep, rocky mountainside. But even if the plowing each year should be deemed a new act, unrelated to the pre-existence of the highway and the annual snows, still it was a lawful and proper act for the highway officials to do, and being without fault, it would not be, in law, an efficient intervening proximate cause.

38 Am. Jur. 732, "Negligence," § 73, nt. 4.

Nor can the plowing of the road be *logically* classed as an *efficient* intervening cause. It could not have flooded the Knight home; it produced no water. At most it would be a *concurring* cause. And the rule that where the negligence of two tort feorsors *concur*s to produce an injury they are jointly and severally liable is too well known to require citation of authority. However, see

45 C. J. 920.

See also

Coleman v. Bennett
69 S. W. 734, 735,

a case extraordinarily like the one at bar on this question of proximate cause. There the defendant wrongfully dammed a stream. Subsequently a third party built a levee along the reservoir so formed. During a freshet

the levee washed out, and the debris therefrom, drifting downstream on the released waters, formed obstructions which threw the waters on plaintiff's lands. Without the dam the waters would not have been thrown against the third party's levee. Without the obstructions which came from the levee the water would have flowed harmlessly down the natural channel after leaving the dam. It was held that the dam was a proximate cause of the injury, uninterrupted by the construction of the third party's levee, and the defendant was liable even though no injury would have resulted without the concurring act of the third party.

We submit that the defendants' request No. 14 was properly refused. The quotation from

Rollow v. Ogden City
66 Utah 475, 243 Pac. 791,

in defendants' brief (pp. 39-40) is not applicable, for the reason that there was no evidence of a "new or independent" cause, but only, at most, of a normal condition which was a "concurring" cause, of which defendants had full knowledge in advance.

4. *The lower court did not err in its instructions 1, 5, 9, 10, or 12.*

(a) *As to Instruction No. 1.*

Defendants complain of the court's instruction outlining the issues because it stated plaintiffs' allegation that "defendants carelessly and negligently left the said pipe lying unprotected upon the surface of the ground," contending that there was no evidence to go to the jury on that issue, as (so defendants say) the evidence showed the pipe was protected by the brow of a cut and by six inches of earth.

In the first place, there was evidence that the pipe was uncovered at the point of the easterly break which caused the injury. The witness Allred testified that at the point of the break and for several rods east the pipe was completely bare, and lying on top of the ground. (T. 62-64). *That was not disputed.* And whether the brow of the cut at the point of the subsequent break referred to by defendants, and a mere six inches of dirt, were “protection” was properly for the jury. There was no error in outlining the allegation and the denial, especially where, as here, the trial court’s attention was not timely invited to defendants’ claim by a suitable request for an instruction withdrawing that issue.

Defendants also complain of the sentence in which the court states plaintiffs’ allegation that defendants knew or should have known that every spring frost loosened rocks roll down the mountainside and across the location of the pipe. This seems highly technical, and could not have confused the jury, especially in view of the fact that the paragraph in question was initiated with the words “The plaintiffs in their complaint allege . . .”, the immediately ensuing paragraph begins “Plaintiffs further allege . . .”, and the instruction concludes “You are instructed that the foregoing allegations and denials are not to be considered by you as statements of fact . . .” We should presume that jurors are of ordinary intelligence, and clearly no ordinary intellect cognizant of the ordinary uses of the English language would be misled by the instruction. Moreover, the error, if any, was harmless, for on the trial the servants and agents of the defendants admitted the knowledge alleged.

The instruction might well be upheld as a proper statement of the law, for it is the law that everyone

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